THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Frank R. Addy, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

---

Case No. 2012-213247

---

Prakash and Urmila Solanki.....Respondents,

v.

Wal-Mart Store #2806, and Spartanburg  
County Sheriff's Office, Defendants of  
Whom Wal-Mart Store #2806 is the Appellant.....Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

Regina Hollins Lewis SC ID #75366  
Mary D. LaFave SC ID #68539  
Gaffney Lewis & Edwards, LLC  
3710 Landmark Dr., Suite 109  
Columbia, SC 29204  
(803) 790-8838

Attorneys for Appellant

**RECEIVED**

SEP 04 2013

**SC Court of Appeals**

**

**STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

- I) Did the trial court err in submitting the issue of punitive damages to the jury where Appellant Wal-Mart merely cooperated with a request by law enforcement and there was no evidence to support a finding of reckless, willful, or wanton misconduct by Appellant Wal-Mart?
  
- II) Did the trial court err in denying Appellant Wal-Mart's post-trial motions for JNOV and for reversal or reduction of punitive damages award where the evidence was insufficient to sustain an award of punitive damages?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arises out of the arrest of Respondent Prakash Solanki (“Mr. Solanki”) by the Respondent Spartanburg County Sheriff’s Department (“the Sheriff’s Department”) several months after a transaction occurred at a Wal-Mart retail store during which it was alleged by the Sheriff’s Department that Mr. Solanki committed identity theft and credit card fraud. Mr. Solanki filed a complaint on November 18, 2010 in the Spartanburg County Court of Common Pleas in which he alleged causes of action against Appellant Wal-Mart (“Wal-Mart”) and the Sheriff’s Department for: (1) negligence; (2) gross negligence and recklessness; (3) false imprisonment; (4) intentional infliction of emotional distress; (5) defamation/defamation *per se*; (6) assault; (7) battery; (8) malicious prosecution; and (9) loss of consortium.

The case was tried before a jury from March 6 – 9, 2012. At the close of all of the evidence the trial court granted directed a verdict in favor of Wal-Mart on all causes of action except negligence, gross negligence and loss of consortium. (R. at 481). The court indicated that it would take the directed verdict motion under advisement with regard to the gross negligence and loss of consortium claims. (R. at 481). Thereafter, the court granted the motion on the loss of consortium claim and, over the objection of Wal-Mart, determined that it would submit the issues of gross negligence and punitive damages to the jury. (R. at 506). The court also granted a directed verdict on all claims against the Sheriff’s Department except for the claims of false imprisonment and malicious prosecution. (R. at 480–81).

The jury returned a verdict in favor of the Sheriff’s Department on both claims against it and returned a verdict against Wal-Mart on the claim of negligence. The jury

awarded Mr. Solanki \$50,000 in actual damages and \$225,000 in punitive damages against Wal-Mart. The jury also found that Mr. Solanki was comparatively negligent in the amount of 25 percent. (R. at 702).

Wal-Mart timely filed post-trial motions including a Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict, Motion for New Trial Absolute, for New Trial *Nisi Remittitur*, for Reversal or Reduction of Punitive Damages, or for New Trial pursuant to the Thirteenth Juror Doctrine. (R. at 19). By Order filed on October 12, 2012, the trial court denied Wal-Mart's post-trial motions. (R. at 1-18). This appeal followed.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

Mr. Solanki testified that he went shopping at Wal-Mart with his wife on November 27, 2009, "Black Friday," the day after Thanksgiving. The two selected several items and Mr. Solanki went to the self-checkout area to pay for the items. (R. at 64, 66, 68–70). Mr. Solanki scanned the items and attempted to proceed to pay for them; however, there was a problem with the register. A Wal-Mart associate, Ryan Smalls, who was working in the self-checkout area attempted to assist Mr. Solanki at the register and when the attempt was unsuccessful, Mr. Smalls suspended the transaction and took Mr. Solanki to a cashier-assisted register to complete the transaction. (R. at 71–82). It is unclear exactly what transpired during the transaction; nevertheless, Mr. Solanki testified that he used his credit card during the transaction and provided his identification and his credit card at the request of Mr. Smalls. (R. at 88–93). At some point, apparently because of a malfunction with the register, a credit card in Mr. Solanki's name was manually stenciled and thereafter, credit card information from the credit card of a woman named Robin Martin was manually entered into the register by Mr. Smalls. A receipt with Ms. Martin's credit card information was then signed by Mr. Solanki for the items he purchased, totaling \$144.70, and the amount was charged to Ms. Martin's credit card. Mr. Solanki and his wife left the store without incident. (R. at 88–93).

Subsequently, on or about December 1, 2009, Ms. Martin reported to the Spartanburg County Sheriff's Department that her credit card had been stolen and that two unauthorized charges had been made using her credit card. (R. at 213–216, 299–301). One of the two charges was the charge in the amount of \$144.70 that had been charged during Mr. Solanki's transaction at Wal-Mart on November 27, 2009. (R. at

300, 306). Ms. Martin reported that the card was last in her possession at approximately 4:30 p.m. on November 27, 2009. (R. at 218).

Deputy Gina Cashion was assigned to investigate the unauthorized charge made at Wal-Mart on December 1, 2009.<sup>1</sup> (R. at 299). On that day, she contacted Wal-Mart and asked if they would pull video surveillance and receipts for the date and time of the transaction involving Ms. Martin's card. Specifically, Deputy Cashion requested receipts for any transaction involving a credit card with the last four digits of Ms. Martin's card, 4094. She also requested that Wal-Mart check for purchases made on November 27, 2009 in the amount of \$144.70. Wal-Mart complied with the deputy's requests and located one transaction in the amount of \$144.70. (R. at 301-04). Wal-Mart provided Deputy Cashion with video surveillance showing the transaction and three documents: 1) a copy of the stenciled impression of Mr. Solanki's credit card; 2) a receipt showing an itemized list of the items purchased by Mr. Solanki in an amount totaling \$144.70; and 3) the store's copy of a receipt showing Ms. Martin's credit card number with Mr. Solanki's signature for a purchase in the total amount of \$144.70. (R. at 301-04, 408-16). After obtaining the documents and video from Wal-Mart, Deputy Cashion had no further contact with Wal-Mart about the transaction. After providing the requested information to Deputy Cashion, Wal-Mart took no further action with regard to the transaction or the investigation by law enforcement. (R. at 433).

Based on the time of the transaction and the time shown in the video, Deputy Cashion determined that Mr. Solanki was involved in the transaction. She attempted to contact Mr. Solanki by calling him and leaving a business card with a note at his South

---

<sup>1</sup> The second unauthorized charge was a \$10.00 charge made at a Murphy's gas station on the same day. (R. at 304). Deputy Cashion testified that she was assigned to investigate only the unauthorized charge made at Wal-Mart in the amount of \$144.70 (R. at 312-13).

Carolina address but was unsuccessful in her attempts.<sup>2</sup> (R. at 420–23). Deputy Cashion testified that thereafter, based upon the video and documents received from Wal-Mart as well as bank statements obtained from Ms. Martin, she sought and received an arrest warrant for Mr. Solanki. (R. at 423–24). Thereafter, in April 2010, Mr. Solanki was arrested in Georgia. He testified that he spent six nights in jail until he was transported to South Carolina where he was released on bond. (R. at 98–102, 105, 107–08). The matter was reviewed by the Grand Jury and on June 11, 2010, indictments were issued charging Mr. Solanki with financial transaction card theft and financial transaction card fraud. On August 24, 2010 the indictments were dismissed by the Solicitor. (R. at 429). Subsequently, on November 18, 2010, Mr. Solanki instituted the subject action.

---

<sup>2</sup> Mr. Solanki testified that he and his wife owned a home in South Carolina and rented an apartment in Georgia, where his wife worked and that they traveled back and forth between the two residences.

## ARGUMENT

**I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN SUBMITTING THE ISSUE OF PUNITIVE DAMAGES TO THE JURY WHERE THE COURT CONCLUDED ONLY THAT THERE WAS A JURY QUESTION WITH REGARD TO GROSS NEGLIGENCE, AND WHERE THERE WAS NO FINDING BY THE COURT OR ANY EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT A FINDING THAT WAL-MART ACTED IN A MANNER THAT WAS WANTON, OR WILLFUL, OR RECKLESS.**

At the close of the Plaintiff's case, the trial court initially indicated that it saw the claim against Wal-Mart as one of simple negligence. (R. at 461). Thereafter, the court determined that the issue of punitive damages would be submitted to the jury. As there was no evidence of any willful, wanton, or reckless act by Wal-Mart to sustain a punitive damages award, the trial court erred in submitting the issue to the jury and the punitive damages award should be reversed.

It is well-established that “[p]unitive damages are quasi-criminal in nature and are imposed to punish a wrongdoer and to deter like conduct.” *Longshore v. Saber Sec. Servs., Inc.*, 365 S.C. 554, 564, 619 S.E.2d 5, 11 (Ct. App. 2005) (citing *Atkinson v. Orkin Exterminating Co., Inc.*, 361 S.C. 156, 164, 604 S.E.2d 385, 389 (2004)). “Although appellate review of an award of punitive damages is limited to the correction of errors of law, an award of punitive damages must be proven under a significant burden of proof: clear and convincing evidence. *Longshore*, 365 S.C. at 564, 619 S.E.2d at 11 (citing *Austin Specialty Transp. Servs., Inc.*, 358 S.C. 298, 310, 594 S.E.2d 867, 873 (Ct. App. 2004)).

To establish a claim for punitive damages, “the plaintiff must prove the defendant’s misconduct was willful, wanton, or in reckless disregard of his rights.” *Longshore*, 365 S.C. at 560, 619 S.E.2d at 11.

As our Supreme Court has observed, “[t]rial judges in this state have long been required, as a threshold matter, to assess the culpability of a defendant’s conduct to determine whether punitive damages are available in a given case (i.e., whether the issue should be submitted to a jury.)” *S.C. Farm Bur. Mut. Ins. Co. v. Love Chevrolet, Inc.*, 324 S.C. 149, 152, 478 S.E.2d 57, (1996).

Here, Wal-Mart had no involvement in instituting charges against Mr. Solanki or in pursuing the warrant for Mr. Solanki’s arrest. Rather, Wal-Mart’s involvement with Mr. Solanki was limited to two actions: (1) the handling of the transaction in which Robin Martin’s lost credit card was used to purchase items for Mr. Solanki; and (2) Wal-Mart’s compliance with the request of the Spartanburg County Sheriff’s Department to provide documents and video relevant to the transaction. The evidence is woefully inadequate to support a finding that Wal-Mart acted in a manner that was willful, wanton, or reckless with regard to either of Wal-Mart’s actions with regard to Mr. Solanki and thus, the trial court erred in submitting the issue of punitive damages to the jury.

**A. The Testimony and Other Evidence Presented at Trial Did Not Support a Finding of Wanton, Willful, or Reckless Misconduct by Wal-Mart.**

Mr. Solanki testified that he initially attempted to make a purchase at a self-checkout register. The register malfunctioned and cashier Ryan Smalls suspended the transaction and moved Mr. Solanki’s items to a cashier-assisted register to complete the transaction. (R. at 70–82). While there is no audio on video surveillance of the transaction, the video was shown to Mr. Solanki who testified regarding what occurred during the transaction. (R. at 70–82, 88–93).

According to Mr. Solanki he was never in possession of a credit card belonging to Robin Martin, the woman whose credit card was used to purchase Mr. Solanki's items. (R. at 71). Mr. Solanki testified that he provided his own credit card although the receipt produced by Wal-Mart from the transaction shows that Mr. Solanki in fact signed a receipt bearing credit card information that belonged to Robin Martin, which had been hand-keyed into the system by cashier Ryan Smalls. Thereafter, Mr. Solanki took the items totaling \$144.70 and left the store without incident. (R. at 93).

Cashier Ryan Smalls testified that he was working as a cashier during the time of the incident and that he worked the second shift in the afternoon from 5:30 until 11:00 p.m. Mr. Smalls recalled that he was working at the self-checkout on Black Friday, November 27, 2009. (R. at 173-74). He testified, however, that he had no independent recollection of the transaction because he dealt with hundreds of transactions while employed at Wal-Mart. (R. at 177, 195-96). He was shown the video footage and testified that the video appeared to show him assisting Mr. Solanki at the self-checkout. (R. at 190). Thereafter, Mr. Solanki sought the assistance of Mr. Smalls when the register apparently malfunctioned, and Mr. Smalls ultimately suspended the transaction and moved Mr. Solanki's items to another register to complete the transaction. (R. at 191-95). Mr. Smalls further testified that he had no independent recollection, but based on the video it appeared that a Wal-Mart customer service manager thereafter came to the register where he had moved Mr. Solanki to assist with the transaction. Mr. Smalls then took an impression of a credit card and subsequently hand-keyed credit card information into the register. (R. at 195-201, 203-07). The items were charged to the credit card, the transaction ended and Mr. Solanki left the store without incident. (R. at 93). Mr.

Smalls testified that he followed all of the procedures that he was required to follow. (R. at 200–01).

Wal-Mart's only involvement with Mr. Solanki's transaction thereafter was to comply with a request by the Spartanburg County Sheriff's Department. Deputy Gina Cashion of the Sheriff's Department testified that on December 1, 2009, she was assigned to handle the report by Robin Martin that a fraudulent charge had been made on her credit card at Wal-Mart. (R. at 299). Deputy Cashion testified that she contacted Wal-Mart and asked for any documents and video involving the fraudulent transaction. (R. at 301–04). As discussed, Wal-Mart provided the deputy with video surveillance showing the transaction and three documents: (1) a copy of the stenciled impression of Mr. Solanki's credit card; (2) a receipt showing an itemized list of the items purchased by Mr. Solanki in an amount totaling \$144.70; and (3) the store's copy of a receipt showing Ms. Martin's credit card number and signed by Mr. Solanki for a purchase in the total amount of \$144.70. (R. at 301–04, 408–16). It is undisputed that after obtaining the documents and video from Wal-Mart, Deputy Cashion did not inquire further of Wal-Mart regarding the transaction and that all actions taken with regard to Mr. Solanki's arrest were instituted by the Sheriff's Department. (R. at 423–24, 433).

The foregoing was the extent of the evidence regarding Wal-Mart's involvement with Mr. Solanki and was insufficient as a matter of law to sustain a claim of gross negligence or punitive damages.<sup>3</sup> At best, the evidence was such that a jury could infer

---

<sup>3</sup> As set forth in detail below, the parties argued and the trial court considered primarily the issue of gross negligence and the applicable standard of absence of the use of even slight care. Counsel for Wal-Mart also argued the absence of wanton, reckless, or willful misconduct by Wal-Mart. After lengthy arguments on the issue the trial court ruled that the issues of gross negligence and punitive damages would be charged to the jury. (R. at 506). Thereafter the trial court indicated that it would not charge gross negligence separately and was "just gonna handle that in the punitives. I'm not gonna define that separately because that's the only way, the only place it relates." (R. at 544). Consequently, the trial court did not charge

simple negligence based on the fact that Mr. Solanki's credit card that was stenciled did not match the numbers on Ms. Martin's credit card that was hand-keyed and signed by Mr. Solanki, or that Mr. Solanki's presented identification did not match the name on Ms. Martin's credit card.

- 1. The trial court acknowledged that the evidence supported the submission of simple negligence only to the jury and erred in thereafter ruling that punitive damages would be submitted to the jury.**

Counsel for Respondent apparently recognized that the handling of the transaction at Wal-Mart did not give rise to a claim for punitive damages; consequently, counsel focused its argument on the information provided by Wal-Mart to the Sheriff's Department upon the Department's request, and counsel for Respondent contended that punitive damages were warranted because Wal-Mart owed a duty of protection to Mr. Solanki to prevent his arrest:

He was a customer of the store. He had an obligation—he had a right to expect that Wal-Mart would protect him against an unreasonable accusation of fraud by some third party or some sheriff or some Sheriff's Department that, with all due respect, did a botched and ineffective investigation.

Mr. Solanki was due a certain amount of protection and standard of care by Wal-Mart such that when [the deputy sheriff] came calling for the information, they should have provided—they should have explained to her, looked at the tape themselves, and said wait a minute, there are some serious questions about this transaction.

\*\*\*

There's so many questions about why Mr. Solanki didn't do it that were never investigated by Wal-Mart.

---

gross negligence but only charged the jury on punitive damages and the willful, wanton, or reckless standard. While Appellant discusses both gross negligence and punitive damages herein because both issues were argued by the parties and assessed by the Court, there is no evidence to support a finding of lack of slight care or willful, wanton, or reckless misconduct and thus, the court's ruling as to both gross negligence and punitive damages was erroneous and should be reversed.

\*\*\*

So, I do think there's evidence to go to the jury on the ground of negligence as against Wal-Mart and gross negligence and recklessness in that when, that Wal-Mart had a duty, once they knew that there was a criminal investigation being conducted on one of their own customers—and here's the problem, Your Honor.

They never considered the man might be innocent. Wal-Mart simply takes this sort of hands-off approach that Mr. Solanki, that they didn't do anything, they just provide information. The question is, you know, what information did they provide. They provided a videotape. They provided some receipts. But did they provide any explanation or clarification?

\*\*\*

But Wal-Mart offered zero technical assistance to [the deputy sheriff] in terms of explaining what's going on in this point-of-sale machine such to suggest that I think the jury could draw very clear inferences that Wal-Mart simply failed, in an egregious way, to protect its own customer, Mr. Solanki.

(R. at 451–53). The court then inquired of Mr. Solanki's counsel as to what manner Wal-Mart failed to exercise even the slightest care regarding Mr. Solanki:

Recklessness—gross negligence is the failure to exercise even slight care, and obviously we're dealing, based on my comments yesterday, my initial reaction was to, to look at Wal-Mart as only or to send it to the jury with regard to Wal-Mart only on the negligence cause of action. Where's the failure to exercise any, even, even the slightest care with regard to the Plaintiff?

(R. at 455). Counsel for Mr. Solanki responded, "It's in the failure to conduct any kind of internal investigation to protect Mr. Solanki from an accusation of, of criminality." (R. at 455). The court then inquired as to whether or not Wal-Mart had an affirmative duty to conduct such an investigation, to which counsel for Mr. Solanki responded that he thought Wal-Mart did have a duty to conduct an internal investigation before providing

the requested information to law enforcement. (R. at 455–56). Counsel’s response in this regard is patently erroneous and is not supported by South Carolina law.

Still not convinced by Mr. Solanki’s argument, the trial court correctly observed that Wal-Mart merely cooperated with the Sheriff’s Department by providing information that the Department requested pertaining to Mr. Solanki’s transaction at Wal-Mart after having received a report of a lost or stolen credit card from Ms. Martin. The court stated:

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