THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Frank R. Addy, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Case No.: 2012-213247

Prakash and Urmila Solanki,.....Respondents,

v.

Wal-Mart Store #2806, and Spartanburg County Sheriff's Office, Defendants of Whom
Wal-Mart Store #2806 is the AppellantAppellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Logan Rollins
John Hawkins
P.O. Box 5048
Spartanburg, SC 29304
Telephone: 864-574-8801
ATTORNEYS FOR
RESPONDENTS

RECEIVED

SEP 05 2013

SC Court of Appeals

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN SUBMITTING THE ISSUE OF PUNITIVE DAMAGES TO THE JURY.

Although it is partially accurate, as Appellant contends, that punitive damages are awarded to punish wrongdoers and deter like conduct, the rule has long been clear that punitive damages serve a broader purpose in South Carolina. In fact, the relatively broad scope of punitive damage awards in South Carolina has a history that dates to within one year of the United States' gaining its independence from Great Britain, as articulated by our Supreme Court:

The purposes of punitive damages are to punish the wrongdoer and deter the wrongdoer and others from engaging in similar reckless, willful, wanton, or malicious conduct in the future. *Punitive damages also serve to vindicate a private right of the injured party by requiring the wrongdoer to pay money to the injured party.* This Court has explained the important role that punitive damages play in the American system of justice generally, and in South Carolina in particular since at least 1784.

Exemplary or punitive damages go to the plaintiff, not as a fine or penalty for a public wrong, but in vindication of a private right which has been willfully invaded; *and indeed, it may be said that such damages in a measure compensate or satisfy for the willfulness with which the private right was invaded; but, in addition thereto, operating as a deterring punishment to the wrongdoer, and as a warning*

to others.... Punitive damages have now come, however, to be generally, though not universally, regarded, not only as punishment for wrong, but as vindication of private right.
This is the basis upon which they are now placed in this state.

Clark v. Cantrell, 339 S.C. 369, 378-79, 529 S.E.2d 528, 533 (2000) (emphasis added) (citations omitted) (quoting Rogers v. Florence Printing Co., 233 S.C. 567, 573, 106 S.E.2d 258, 261 (1958)). Therefore, punitive damages exist not only to deter the wrongdoer, but they also exist to compensate the plaintiff, particularly a plaintiff who has suffered non-economic damages for invasion of his private rights—in the case at bar, of the Plaintiff’s right to liberty itself: “Our courts have long recognized that punitive damages serve to compensate a plaintiff and vindicate his rights arising out of a wrong suffered or injury sustained.” Smith v. Widener, 397 S.C. 468, 472, 724 S.E. 2d 188, 191 (Ct. App. 2012).

South Carolina’s application of punitive damages awards is so broad that, in some cases, the law not only allows a punitive damage award but *requires* it. In Sample v. Gulf Refining Co., 183 S.C. 399, 191 S.E. 209, 215 (1937), Chief Justice Stabler held:

There was also no error in charging plaintiff’s third request containing the proposition that it would be the duty of the jury to award punitive damages, if it found that respondent’s rights had been consciously, willfully, and recklessly violated. While there is authority in other jurisdictions to the effect that the award of punitive damages rests in the discretion of the jury yet under the settled rule prevailing in this state punitive damages are awarded not only as punishment for a wrong, but also as vindication of private right, and when under proper allegations a plaintiff proves a willful, wanton, reckless, or malicious violation of his

rights, *it is not only the right but the duty of the jury to award punitive damages.*

(Emphasis added).

- A. The Legal Threshold for Whether the Jury Must Be Given a Punitive Damages Charge is Whether Evidence Exists By Which A Reasonable Inference of Recklessness, Willfulness, or Wantonness May Be Drawn, and, When a Party Creates a Dangerous Condition and Takes No Action To Mitigate the Potential Harm from that Dangerous Condition, it is Chargeable with Consciousness of its Wrongdoing so as to Necessitate a Punitive Jury Charge.**

In the second tier of cases (after those in which a Plaintiff is entitled as of right to an award of punitive damages) are those cases in which the issue of punitive damages is left to the discretion of the jury. In the case at bar, the trial court did not determine that the Plaintiff was entitled to an award of punitive damages as a matter of right; accordingly, the only issue for the trial judge's determination is whether any reasonable inference of recklessness, willfulness, or wantonness could have been drawn. The rule is that "[t]he issue of punitive damages *must be submitted to the jury if more than one reasonable inference can be drawn from the evidence as to whether the defendant's behavior was reckless, willful, or wanton.*" Mishoe v. QHG of Lake City, Inc., 366 S.C. 195, 201, 621 S.E.2d 363, 366 (Ct. App. 2005) (emphasis added). If the court determines, as it did in the case at bar, that more than one inference can be drawn regarding the recklessness, willfulness, or wantonness, the court *must* submit the punitive issue to the jury.

Accordingly, the only issue properly before this Court with regard to the issue of the trial court's charging punitive damages is whether it is possible that an inference of

recklessness, willfulness, or wantonness could reasonably have been drawn from the evidence presented in the case:

The test by which a tort is to be characterized as reckless, wil[l]ful or wanton is whether it has been committed in such a manner or under such circumstances that a person of ordinary reason or prudence would then have been conscious of it as an invasion of the plaintiff's rights. It is this present consciousness of wrongdoing that justifies the assessment of punitive damages against the tort-feasor [. . .]” In other words, “at the time of his act or omission to act the tort-feasor [must] be conscious, *or chargeable with consciousness*, of his wrongdoing.

Cody P. v. Bank of America, N.A., 395 S.C. 611, 625, 720 S.E.2d 473, 480 (Ct. App. 2011) (emphasis added) (citations omitted). This standard holds that “[w]hen evidence exists that *suggests a defendant is aware of a dangerous condition and does not take action to minimize or avoid the danger, sufficient evidence exists to create a jury issue as to whether there is clear and convincing evidence of willfulness.* Mishoe, 366 S.C. at 201, 621 S.E.2d at 366 (emphasis added).

Section I (A)(1) of Appellant’s Brief states, “The trial court acknowledged that the evidence supported the submission of simple negligence only to the jury and erred in thereafter ruling that punitive damages would be submitted to the jury.” In fact, the trial court never “acknowledged” that “submission of simple negligence only” was warranted. The basis of Appellant’s allegation is an offhand remark by the trial judge, which Appellant itself quotes in its brief: “I see that as simple negligence. I don’t know why that’s failure to use the slightest care especially in light of the fact that it certainly appears to me, that, that efforts were made to verify the identification of Mr. Solanki.” (Record on

Appeal Vol. II, pp. 460-462) (Appellant's Brief at 15). Apodictically, in a jury trial, it is the jury, and not the judge, that is the fact finder. By Appellant's logic, since the trial judge had determined, in his own mind, that Wal-Mart was negligent, the same course of line of reasoning that leads Wal-Mart to now allege that gross negligence, wilfulness, wantonness, and reckless were not at issue would also lead to the logical conclusion that liability was not at issue, *i.e.*, since the judge found simple negligence, he should have directed a verdict as to liability and allowed the jury to decide only damages. If the trial court had so found, of course, this appeal would have been taken on different grounds.¹ In fact, the trial court simply followed the law that required it to submit the issue of punitive damages to the jury if any reasonable inference of reckless, willful, or wanton conduct could be drawn from the evidence. That a trial judge forms a personal opinion about what he thinks the evidence shows does not require (or even allow) him to substitute the opinion he forms for that of the jury, which remains the finder of fact in a jury trial.

In making its *legal* decision (which is within the purview of the judge in a jury trial), after giving its *factual* (and, in a jury trial, irrelevant) opinion about whether it believed Wal-Mart should be liable to Plaintiff, the trial court went on to state the correct rule of law:

As a general rule, issues of gross negligence are properly for the jury to determine. There's evidence, based upon the weirdness of this transaction, for lack of a better word, in the record, there's evidence from

¹ In FN5, p. 23 of its brief, Appellant states that "Wal-Mart does not agree that there was sufficient evidence of negligence [. . .]."

which the jury could conclude that, in some way, plaintiff was grossly negligent in the way they or, sorry, that the defendant Wal-Mart, was grossly negligent in the way they handled this transaction. There is evidence from which they could reasonably conclude that. I'll charge gross negligence and punitive.

(Record on Appeal Vol. II, p. 506). In its brief, Appellant makes an argument that the trial court did not clearly demarcate the boundaries between gross negligence and punitive damages (FN 3 of Appellant's Brief at page 11). Appellant thereafter raises the issue that the trial court did not charge gross negligence but did charge punitive damages. Appellant does not dispute that the trial court's punitive jury instruction charged the correct law. Nor does it explain how the trial court's failure to adequately demarcate the difference between the gross negligence and punitive damages standards in the court's statements to counsel while the jury was not present could possibly invalidate the jury's awarding punitive damages based on a punitive jury charge that correctly outlines the law.

In Gathers, which was cited by Plaintiff's counsel as grounds for the Wal-Mart's liability (Record on Appeal Vol. 2, Part 1 at PP. 465 - 467), the arresting officer, Ackerman, had allegedly witnessed the plaintiff steal items from the Harris Teeter store. Gathers v. Harris Teeter, 282 S.C. 220, 225, 317 S.E.2d 748, 752 (Ct. App. 1984). The only role played by Harris Teeter was that it was the site of the alleged theft, and its employees assisted Officer Ackerman—upon his request. Id. In the case at bar, on the other hand, Wal-Mart created the self-contradictory document that the police used to arrest Plaintiff. Even when Defendant Harris Teeter, in Gathers, was found liable only for

agreeing to cooperate with a police investigation, this Court refused to absolve it of liability:

Harris Teeter seeks to relieve itself of liability for its employees' actions by claiming that [Police Officer] Ackerman ordered the two employees to help him, that they were under a legal duty to help Ackerman, and that the law imposes no civil liability upon a private person for doing what the law requires him to do [. . .] The only duty imposed upon a private citizen is to communicate such facts and information to a police officer as are necessary to allow the officer the opportunity to apprehend the offender [. . .] Any further actions taken by a private citizen must be justified under the circumstances.

Id. The distinguishing feature in the case at bar is that, prior to acquiring evidence from Wal-Mart, the police had no evidence that would link Plaintiff to the alleged crime. Wal-Mart did not provide the police with evidence to apprehend a person who was a known criminal offender. Instead, Wal-Mart made the Plaintiff appear to be an offender when he was not by creating and producing the evidence that was used to inculcate and arrest him. In addition, a Wal-Mart employee admittedly hand-keyed the fraudulent transaction. As Plaintiff's counsel argued to the trial court:

We have a request to admit, on the record, that Wal-Mart keyed in this transaction [. . .] and we have Prakash Solanki's card imprinted on the other side. These two [. . .] documents [. . .] on this single exhibit show two [. . .] scenarios [. . .] Now, Wal-Mart provided this contradictory piece of evidence that it generated [. . .] It's only Wal-Mart that has created this document that has two separate credit card transactions on a single document [. . .] it's inherently irrational and [. . .] Wal-Mart's position essentially is that it can relieve itself of liability because [. . .] Wal-Mart was required to cooperate with government entities [. . .] but when it provides evidence that is inherently contradictory, it cannot do so without explanation of how that evidence was generated when it knows, by cooperating with the police [. . .] an arrest will result [. . .] only

Wal-Mart had access to its internal system to explain how this could have happened.

(Record on Appeal Vol. 2, at pp. 465 - 467). By any standard, when a Wal-Mart employee entered the fraudulent transaction, and Wal-Mart created a document with contradictory evidence while exclusively controlling the instrumentality by which it was created, and because of which Respondent was arrested, the jury could infer, as it did, that Wal-Mart was conscious, or chargeable with consciousness, of the wrong it was perpetuating—a wrong that eventually led to Respondent’s spending six days in jail. The appropriate legal standard, after all, requires only that the defendant be conscious or chargeable with consciousness of the existence of a “dangerous condition” that it has created and regarding which it has not taken “action to minimize or avoid the danger” before “sufficient evidence exists to create a jury issue as to whether there is clear and convincing evidence of willfulness.” Mishoe, 366 S.C. at 201, 621 S.E.2d at 366.

B. No Standard Exists by which an Appellate Court May Reverse a Trial Court’s Damages Award Based on the Appellate Court’s Engaging in its Own Weighing of the Evidence.

Appellant alleges that this Court should reverse the trial court on the basis that the trial court erred by submitting the issue of punitive damages to the jury without “*sufficient evidence* from which a jury could conclude by clear and convincing evidence that the alleged misconduct by Wal-Mart was willful, wanton or reckless.” (Appellant’s Brief at 17). South Carolina appellate court review does not extend so far with respect to the issues presented. Instead,

The trial judge has considerable discretion regarding the amount of damages, both actual or punitive. Because of this discretion, our review on appeal is limited to the correction of errors of law. Our task in reviewing a damages award is not to weigh the evidence, but to determine if there is any evidence to support the damages award.

Austin v. Specialty Transp. Servs., Inc., 358 S.C. 298, 310-11, 594 S.E.2d 867, 873

(Ct. App. 2004) (internal citations omitted).

This statement regarding the insufficiency of the evidence, reiterated with variations throughout Appellant’s brief, encapsulates the entirety of Appellant’s argument that the jury’s punitive award should be reversed.² Appellant requests that this Court engage in a *de novo* review of the sufficiency of the evidence upon which the trial court made its determination to provide a jury charge for punitive damages and thereafter find, as a matter of fact, that Wal-Mart’s conduct did not rise to the level of recklessness, willfulness, or wantonness. Although South Carolina law, following the United States Supreme Court’s guidance, does analyze the *constitutionality* of the *amount* of punitive damages awards *de novo* to determine whether it comports with due process (See, e.g. Mitchell v. Fortis, Ins. Inc., 385 S.C. 570, 686 S.E.2d 176 (2009)), no rule of law has ever allowed an appellate court in South Carolina to gainsay the trial court’s “any evidence” and “reasonable inference” determinations that punitive damages, *per se*, were justified. At the appellate level, the standard is not whether *sufficient* evidence existed for the trial court’s finding regarding the punitive issue—but whether *any evidence* existed: “This Court must

² Interestingly, at trial, Wal-Mart did not call any witnesses or present any evidence.

affirm the trial court's punitive damages finding [. . .] if *any evidence reasonably supports* the judge's factual findings.” Austin, 358 S.C. at 314, 594 S.E.2d at 875 (emphasis added).

Although an appellate court may reduce the amount of a punitive award if it makes a *de novo* determination that the award violates due process, it cannot substitute its view for the jury’s regarding whether the conduct of a defendant was reckless, willful, or wanton so as to abrogate, *per se*, an award of punitive damages:

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